
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Planning Committee

Members of the Planning Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend 
a meeting to be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Wednesday, 2 
March 2022 at 7.00 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be 
transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 10)

3. Declarations of Interest 
To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is.  Any declared interest will fall into one of the following 
categories:

A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest which has been or should have been 
declared to the Monitoring Officer, and in respect of which the member 
must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in question;

An Other Significant Interest under the Code of Conduct and in respect of 
which the member must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in 
question unless exercising the right of public speaking extended to the 
general public;

A voluntary announcement of another interest not falling into the above 
categories, made for reasons of transparency.



4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or the items in Part B (if any) in Public 

5. Planning applications for determination by the Committee 

a) 20211529 - 25 The Avenue, Gravesend, Kent,  DA11 0NA (Pages 11 - 24)

b) 20211309 - G And M Motors 85 Milton Road Gravesend Kent (Pages 25 - 42)

6. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the Director 
(Planning & Development) 

A copy of the schedule has been placed in the democracy web library 
and also in the Reception, Civic Centre: - http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ.

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in Private

None

Members

Cllr Brian Sangha (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Brian Francis
Gary Harding
Samir Jassal
Bob Lane
Emma Morley
Elizabeth Mulheran
Tony Rice

Substitutes: To be notified

http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ
http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ


1

Planning Committee

Wednesday, 2 February 2022 7.00 pm

Present:

Cllr Brian Sangha (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Derek Ashenden
Helen Ashenden
Brian Francis 
Gary Harding  
Emma Morley
Diane Morton
Elizabeth Mulheran

Note:  Councillor Lee Croxton, Councillor Leslie Hills, Councillor Lyn Milner, 
Councillor Anthony Pritchard, County Councillor Jordan Meade were 
also in attendance         

                
Shazad Ghani            Service Manager (Planning)
Richard Hart Team Leader (Development Management)
Alison Webster Senior Planning Officer
Amanda Grout Planning Officer
Vicky Nutley Assistant Head of Legal Services (Place)
Julie Francis-Beard Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

38. Apologies for absence 

An apology for absence were received from Cllr Samir Jassal, Cllr Bob Lane and Cllr Tony 
Rice. Cllr Helen Ashenden, Cllr Diane Morton and Cllr Derek Ashenden substituted.

39. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on Wednesday, 24 November 
2021 were agreed and signed by the Chair.

40. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Helen Ashenden made a voluntary interest in relation to 20211466 as her art group 
regularly holds exhibitions at TJ’s.

41. Planning applications for determination by the Committee 

41.1 202111305 - 53 Nickleby Road Gravesend Kent DA12 4UQ 

The Committee considered 20211305 in relation to 53 Nickleby Road Gravesend Kent DA12 
4UQ. The application was for the retrospective application for erection of an outbuilding in 
the rear garden to be used as home gym, games and family room.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee 2.02.2022

2

The application site is comprised of a two-storey semi-detached dwelling on the northern
side of 53 Nickleby Road, a residential street of similar architectural character.

The Team Leader (Development Management) introduced application 20211305 to the 
Committee and highlighted key points from the report. 

 The application for 53 Nickleby Road is located within an urban area of Gravesend 
and is a residential area characterised by dwellings on generous plots with many 
having outbuildings towards the rear of their gardens. 

 On top of the building there are solar panels which the applicant had not included as 
part of the application. The solar panel will be dealt with outside this committee and be 
referred to the Planning Enforcement Team to address. 

 As outlined in 5.2 to 5.6 of the report the design of the development is deemed 
acceptable and there is no conflict with local or national planning policy. 

 The flat roofed outbuilding has a height of 2.8m which is 0.8m higher than a boundary 
fence which could be constructed without the benefit of planning permission and 0.3m 
higher than an outbuilding which could be constructed without planning permission. 

 As set in paragraph 5.11 to 5.14 of the report there would be no adverse impact to the 
amenity of surrounding properties. 

 The recommendation would be to grant permission subject to the following conditions:  
approved plans and restricting the use of the outbuilding. 

In response to Members questions on the clarification of the application, the Service Manager 
(Planning) explained that:

 The height of the outbuilding fails to meet the height requirement of Schedule 2 Part 1 
Class E of the General Permitted Development Order (2015); as it is 2.8m in height, 
and, therefore, requires planning permission. 

 Following a question about whether conditions could be added to stop this outbuilding 
being used for residential accommodation. The Team Leader (Development 
Management) explained that yes a condition could be added to keep the outbuilding 
for the purposes set out in the application. 

The Committee heard from Cllr Leslie Hills, a Ward Councillor for Chalk Ward who was 
against the application: 

The following points were raised during the discussion on this application:

 Cllr Hills called in this application for consideration as he had observed the building 
from the neighbouring property. It had been a building site for several months and was 
a monstrosity. Cllr Hills observed the site before the roof had been installed and as no 
planning permission had been submitted for this particular site, Cllr Hills was originally 
unsure what the building was for intended for. 

 Cllr Hills considered this to be inappropriate and an over development within the 
neighbourhood and Cllr Hills felt it exceeded the height that was mentioned in the 
planning application.   

 Cllr Hills had taken photographs of the site during construction and had submitted 
these to the Planning Team, but they were not accepted. The Team Leader 
(Development Management) explained that with retrospective applications, the 
Committee have to decide not what had been built on the site but what is in the 

Page 4



Planning Committee 2.02.2022

3

application and plans in front of them and the application does comply with the 
planning policy. 

 The Chair asked the Team Leader (Development Management) to confirm the actual 
size of the building and it was confirmed to be: 4.9m deep by 9.78m wide and 2.8m 
high. The left boundary is 0.6m and the right boundary is 0.4m. If the building had 
been 2.5m high planning permission would not have been required but because the 
height is 30cm higher planning permission is required.  

 The Team Leader (Development Management) explained that after looking at a 
photographs of the garden and site, the plan under item 1.2 does show that the 
guttering is not overhanging. 

   
The Team Leader (Development Management) fielded questions from Members and    the 
following discussions were had:

 Retrospective planning applications seem to be on the increase, is there a way that 
this could be stopped. The Chair thanked the Member and suggested the council look 
at these type of planning applications and what could be done to stop so many coming 
through Planning.

 Members expressed a concern and suggested conditions be added to this application. 
 The Vice Chair summed up the application and the concerns of Cllr Hills. As the height 

of the outbuilding is only 2 inches over the permitted height there seems to be no 
reason why planning permission could not be permitted but conditions would need to 
be added to application. 

The Chair thanked the Ward Councillor and the Officers for the detailed report.

Resolved that application 20211305 be delegated authority to Service Manager (Planning 
Services) in conjunction with the Chair of the Planning Committee subject to the rewording of 
Condition 2.

Approved with conditions: Unanimous 

Note: (a) Ward Councillor Leslie Hills spoke with the leave of the Chair.

41.2 20211466 - TJ's 15 Milton Road Gravesend Kent 

The Committee considered 20211466 in relation to TJ's 15 Milton Road Gravesend Kent. The 
application was for the demolition of the existing 2 storey outrigger and erection of a 
replacement two storey outrigger linked to a first floor extension to the existing function room 
including the change of use of the new first floor accommodation to 6no.en-suite letting rooms 
ancillary to the existing public house including the relocation of the existing toilets and 
provision of disabled toilet facilities.   

The Senior Planning Officer introduced application 20211466 to the Committee and 
highlighted key points from the report. 

 The site is located on the outskirts of the town centre within the Harmer Street 
Conservation Area.  

 There is a two storey outrigger to the rear and a single storey detached building in the 
garden. 

Page 5



Planning Committee 2.02.2022

4

 As there is evidence that this property, with an outrigger to the rear, was shown on a 
historic map from 1845 this is now identified as a non-designated heritage asset and is 
described as being a building of townscape merit in the conservation area appraisal.  
The outrigger as a whole makes a positive contribution to the conservation area and is 
a rare survivor. 

 Plans showed the demolition of the existing outrigger and the replacement with a 2 
storey rear extension which would double the length of the existing one. 

 The application had been refused before in 2021 and the reasons for refusal were the 
loss of the historic outrigger with no justification, the scale of the proposal being out of 
proportion with the neighbouring extensions and the impact on the adjacent listed 
building and conservation area. 

 No objections were raised to the ancillary use of letting rooms. 
 The revised application is more or less the same scheme however a structural report 

has now been submitted. This report detailed repairs that needed to be made but does 
not justify the demolition of this rare surviving outrigger. 

 A subsequent supporting statement detailed that it is not financially viable to retain the 
outrigger but does not provide evidence through a detail structural survey or viability 
assessment. 

 The proposed development would assist to expand the existing business and derive 
both social and economic benefits, but they are not outweighed by the significant harm 
of this proposal. 

In response to Members questions on the clarification of the application, the Senior Planning 
Officer explained that:

 This application is a non-designated heritage asset. 
 Some repairs or strengthening could happen to the outrigger rather than demolition. 
 The Chair asked when the structural report was received from the applicant. The 

Senior Planning Officer said the day before the agenda was to be published. 
 Following a question about “what is an outrigger” the Senior Planning Officer told the 

Committee an outrigger is an extension at the rear of the property. This outrigger 
would not have been built with the original building and was built in the 1800’s. 

The Committee heard the views of a public speaker in favour of the application. Following the 
address by the public speaker, Members had their questions answered:   

 Following a question from the Chair regarding the refusal of the previous planning 
permission, had there been any engagement with Officers and what action did the 
agent and applicant take to bring this new application forward. The agent explained 
that it was not considered a detrimental scheme to the street view and strongly 
believed this application would not cause any concern to the conservation area. 

 A new disabled toilet had been included in the new application. 

The Committee heard the views of a public speaker in favour of the application. Following the 
address by the public speaker, Members had their questions answered:   

 TJ’s is a community asset with enhanced facilities and expectations that are suited to 
a variety of people. It is centrally located. 

The Committee heard the views of a public speaker in favour of the application. Following the 
address by the public speaker, Members had their questions answered:   

Page 6



Planning Committee 2.02.2022

5

 The Senior Planning Officer explained the new proposal would be double the length of 
the current building and would be visible when walking down East Crescent.

 The proposed development would be 20m deep whereas the existing outrigger is 
currently 10m deep. 

The Committee heard from Cllr Lee Croxton, a Ward Councillor for Riverside Ward. The 
following points were raised during discussion on this application:

 Cllr Croxton explained he was speaking on behalf of all three Ward Councillors and 
that they all supported this application and are doing anything they can to support this 
application and support our heritage. 

 If the outrigger was demolished and rebuilt, it would not been seen from the landscape 
or road. 

 There have been a number of public houses within the area that have sadly closed, 
and this public house remains a historic commercial enterprise. This application will 
provide a long term commercial future for the public house otherwise it could go out of 
business and become a derelict site. This particular area used to be the hub of the 
town but the area has now moved, commercially, in a different direction.  

 This application does include improved facilities such as new disabled toilets.  
 This particular historic building does have a future in the town. 

The Committee heard from County Councillor Jordan Meade also a Ward Councillor for 
Woodlands Ward. The following points were raised during discussion on this application:

 This property is of significant historic and cultural importance to the town and will be 
celebrating 200 years next year.   

 To reject this application would be a complete travesty on heritage grounds as 
demolishing the outrigger would not been seen from street level.  Outriggers are 
simply extensions to buildings.  

 The addition of installing a disabled toilet is beneficial to this application and the town. 
 Cllr Meade complimented the architects on the application and preserving the heritage 

of Gravesham and making it something Gravesham could be proud of and making a 
positive contribution and appearance to the conservation area. 

The Committee heard from Cllr Anthony Pritchard, a Ward Councillor for Woodlands Ward: 

The following points were raised during discussion on this application:

 The applicants still want to maintain this property as a public house. The appearance 
of the front will not change and very few people will actually see the area where the 
outrigger would have been. 

 If this application is not granted then there is every chance that the business will close, 
be abandoned and probably fall down and then the heritage will be completely lost.  

The Senior Planning Officer fielded questions from Members and the following discussions 
were had:

 The Senior Planning Officer explained there was no lift in the plans so the 6 en-suite 
letting rooms would not be wheelchair accessible and the agent confirmed that the 
application did not include accessibility for disabled people to the rooms. 

Page 7



Planning Committee 2.02.2022

6

 The Chair asked as it is deemed as a non-designated heritage asset was a detailed 
structural survey and viability assessment report submitted. The Service Manager 
(Planning) confirmed that the agent spoke to the case officer before coming to the 
Committee but they were not willing to delay the application to wait for these reports. 

 The Chair summarised the application; it is a non-designated heritage asset that 
seeks to address the Corporate Plan and become a vibrant business in the town 
centre and community. There is a benefit of regenerating that area and retaining 
public houses. TJ’s has continued trading and just wishes to expand the business.  
The Officer recommendation is clear, but each Member is entitled to reach their own 
decision. With the increase in residential properties in the area this application would 
provide letting rooms for people, entertainment facilities and could increase tourism.  
Good quality affordable places for people to stay are required.     

 The Chair asked the Service Manager (Planning) whether it would be advisable if they 
could defer this application and wait for the structural survey and viability report. The 
Service Manager (Planning) explained that Members should make a decision on the 
application before them now, as no-one will know what the structural survey will say 
and if deferred the application could be completely different from the one being 
decided tonight. 

 The Chair listened very carefully to the community, the registered speakers, Ward 
Councillors, Borough Councillors and a County Councillor and this application would 
create a future for the town, where people would be proud to live, work and entertain. 
The new facilities for people with disabilities would be a benefit. Although the outrigger 
will be 10m larger on balance the Chair expressed that on this particular occasion and 
location the application should be approved but with conditions. This was seconded by 
Cllr Francis. 

 A Member of the Committee commented that the main building would need to be 
preserved but with the amount of people supporting this application, on balance, the 
benefits of regenerating this location and the sustainability of businesses in that 
particular part of town they would approve this application. 

 Cllr Mulheran expressed her concern that decisions were being made without the 
structural survey and viability report. Buildings could be being demolished which was 
part of the heritage of the area. There are a lot of important building that cannot be 
seen from the road, would this mean more could be demolished. 

 The Vice Chair explained this property was of great importance and although torn 
about this property being in a conservation area and the outrigger being demolished 
agreed with the Chair to approve this application but delegate authority to Officers and 
the Chair to agree conditions with the applicant. 

Resolved that application 20211466 be APPROVED but with delegated authority to the 
Service Manager (Planning) in consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair in conjunction with 
the applicant.

Approved with delegated authority to the Chair, Vice Chair and Service Manager (Planning) to 
agree planning conditions – unanimous.      

The Chair thanked the registered speakers, Ward Councillors, Councillors, County Councillor 
and the Officers for the detailed report.

Note: (a) Guneet Kaur (Agent – in favour) addressed the Committee
(b) Lyn Byers (in favour) addressed the Committee
(c) JonJo O’Connell (in favour) addressed the Committee

Page 8



Planning Committee 2.02.2022

7

(d) Ward Councillor Lee Croxton spoke with the leave of the Chair
(e) Councillor Tony Pritchard spoke with the leave of the Chair
(f) County Councillor Jordan Meade spoke with the leave of the Chair. 

41.3 20211473 - Green Hedges The Street Cobham Gravesend 

Resolved that the recommendation is for 20211473 to be GRANTED Planning Permission, 
subject to the following conditions: 

Time Limit 

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than 
the expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is 
granted. 

Reason In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended 
by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

Approved Plans 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
          following approved plans:

Planning Application Form received 1st December 2021; 
Drawing No. 321(GA)001 Rev 0 – Existing Location & Block Plans received 1st December 
2021; 
Drawing No. 321(GA)001B Rev 0 – Proposed Block Plan received 16th December 2021; 
Drawing No. 321(GA)002 Rev 0 – Existing Site Plan received 1st December 2021; 
Drawing No. 321(GA)003 Rev 0 – Proposed Site Plan received 1st December 2021; 
Drawing No. 321(GA)010 Rev 0 – Existing Ground Floor Plan received 1st December 2021; 
Drawing No. 321(GA)013 Rev 0 – Existing Roof Plan received 1st December 2021; 
Drawing No. 321(GA)015 Rev 0 – Existing South West Elevation received 1st December 
2021; 
Drawing No. 321(GA)16 Rev 0 – Existing North East Elevation received 1st December 2021; 
Drawing No. 321(GA)017 Rev 0 – Existing S.West & N.West Elevation received 1st 
December 2021; Drawing No. 321(GA)018 Rev 0 – Existing Sections received 1st December 
2021; 
Drawing No. 321(GA)020 Rev 0 – Proposed Ground Floor Plan received 1st December 2021; 
Drawing No. 321(GA)023 Rev 0 – Proposed Roof Plan received 1st December 2021; Drawing 
No. 321(GA)025 Rev 0 – Proposed South West Elevation received 1st December 2021; 
Drawing No. 321(GA)026 Rev 0 – Proposed North Elevation received 1st December 2021; 
Drawing No. 321(GA)027 Rev 0 – Proposed S.East & N.West Elevation received 1st 
December 2021; 
Drawing No. 321(GA)028 Rev 0 – Proposed Sections received 1st December 2021; and 
Design, Access & Heritage Statement received 1st December 2021. 

Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

Materials 

Page 9



Planning Committee 2.02.2022

8

3. Notwithstanding the details included on the application form and approved plans 
the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
development hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing dwelling. 

Reason To maintain the character and appearance of the building and to ensure a 
satisfactory visual relationship between the existing and new development in 
accordance with adopted Policies CS12, CS19 & CS20 Gravesham Local Plan: 
Core Strategy (September 2014).

42. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the 
Director (Planning & Development) 

A schedule showing applications determined by the Director (Environment) under delegated 
powers had been published on the Council’s website.

43. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair 
is of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

There is no any other business. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.00 pm

Page 10



SUMMARY REPORT

Application Ref: 20211529

Site Address: 25 The Avenue, Gravesend, Kent,  DA11 0NA 

Application 
Description:

Change of use from dwelling house to a 9 bedroom house of multiple 
occupation.

Applicant: Mr Jasbir Dosanjh

Agent: Mr Herjindur Channa

Ward: Pelham

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: 7 March 2022

Publicity expiry date: 28 January 2022

Decision Level: Planning Committee – Wednesday 2 March 2022

Reason for referral: Councillor Call-In

Recommendation: Approve with conditions
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

Summary of Reasons for Recommendations

The proposal for a 9 bedroom House of Multiple Occupation (HMO), is considered to provide 
an acceptable standard of amenity for future occupiers. On this basis and as the applicant has 
overcome the previous grounds for refusal, this application accords with the adopted 
Development Plan and material considerations such as the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021).

____________________________________________________________________________

MAIN REPORT

1. Proposal

1.1. This application seeks permission for a change of use from a dwelling house to a 9 
bedroom house of multiple occupation (HMO).

1.2. The internal alterations to the ground floor create 3 bedrooms, a kitchen/sitting area and 
two WC/shower rooms. The first floor contains 3 bedrooms, a bathroom and a 
WC/shower room, and a communal room, and the second floor has 3 further bedrooms. 

1.3. There are no external alterations. 

2. Relevant Planning History

Application No. Description Status Decision

Page 11 Agenda Item 5a



Page 2 of 13

20211047 Retrospective application for 
change of use from dwelling house 
to a 11no. bedroom house of 
multiple occupation.

Refused 26.11.2021

20210980 Erection of a brick built outbuilding 
in the rear garden to form a gym 
and storage.

Refused 22.10.2021

20210529 Erection of single storey rear 
extension.

Permitted 21.06.2021

20170260 Erection of a single storey rear 
extension.

Permitted 12.06.2017

19910683 Change of use of single family 
dwelling to residential care home 
for the elderly.

Permitted 24.03.1992

19850219 Erection of single storey rear 
extension to form kitchen breakfast 
area shower room and wc

Permitted 14.06.1985

3. Planning Policy, Development Plan and other Material Considerations

Development Plan

3.1. The Development Plan for Gravesham currently comprises:

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy and Policies Map, September 2014; 
Saved policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review, November 1994;
The Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013 - 2030 (July 2016, revised 2020)

3.2. The relevant policies for this proposal are as follows:

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014
 CS01 – Sustainable Development
 CS02 – Scale and Distribution of Development
 CS11 – Transport
 CS12 – Green Infrastructure
 CS14 – Housing Type and Size
 CS19 – Design and Development Principles
 CS20 – Heritage and the Historic Environment

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994
 H5 – Increasing the Housing Stock by the Conversion of Existing Buildings
 TC3 – Development Affecting Conservation Areas
 T1 – Impact of Development on the Highway Network
 P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards

3.3. Paragraph 33 of the NPPF 2021 sets out that those policies within adopted local plans 
should be reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five 
years, and should then be updated as necessary. Such reviews are also a legal 
requirement as set out in Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) England Regulations 2012.

Page 12



Page 3 of 13

3.4. The Council undertook such a review in September 2019 and the review found that the 
adopted Local Plan Core Strategy is in need of a partial review in terms of Policy CS02, 
due to the increased need for housing since the Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted, 
and the need to ensure a sufficient land supply exists to meet this need. Whilst saved 
policies from the Local Plan First Review 1994 generally conform with the NPPF 2021, 
the Council will also seek to replace these saved policies via the emerging Local Plan.

3.5. Given Gravesham’s current inability to demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply, and 
as the delivery of housing was substantially below (less than 75%) that required by the 
Housing Delivery Test, the housing delivery element of Core Strategy Policy CS02 must 
be regarded to be out of date, as required by the Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF 2021. 
This requires that in regard to housing development, planning permission should be 
granted unless:

 
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or 
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

3.6. In the Gravesham context, the policies referred to in paragraph 11(d)(i) above are those 
set out in the NPPF 2021 at footnote 7 (rather than those in development plans) relating 
to any of the following:

 Habitats sites (and those sites listed in NPPF 2021, paragraph 181)
 Sites of Special Scientific Interest; 
 Green Belt; 
 Local Green Space; 
 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty;
 Irreplaceable habitats; 
 Designated heritage assets (and other heritage assets of archaeological interest, see 

NPPF 2021, footnote 68); and 
 Areas at risk of flooding or coastal change.

3.7. In determining applications for planning permission involving housing, the Council will 
therefore apply a weighted balance in favour of granting planning permission in 
accordance with relevant case law and guidance, having regard to the acceptability or 
otherwise of the proposals when evaluated against development plan policy, the need to 
make efficient use of land (paragraph 121(c)) in context, the relative contribution the 
proposal makes towards the alleviation of any shortfall in housing delivery at that time 
and any other considerations material to the proposed development.

Other Material Considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework 2021
 Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
 Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities
 Section 9 – Promoting sustainable transport
 Section 11 – Making effective use of land
 Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places 
 Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
 Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)
 SPG2 – Residential Layout Guidelines (2020)

Page 13



Page 4 of 13

 SPG4 – KCC Parking Standards (2006)
 Guidance to HMO Amenity Standards (2006)
 Pelham Road/The Avenue Conservation Area Appraisal (2009)
 Technical Housing Standards – Nationally Described Space Standards (2015)

4. Consultations, Publicity and Representations

4.1. The application has been advertised by individual neighbour letters to 21 properties, and 
on site. The consultation periods expired on 11 and 28 January 2022 respectively. 
There have been 7 representations in total, objecting on the following grounds:

 The plans detract from the current character of the area and fail to make a positive 
contribution to the environment.

 There are already a large number of HMOs in the area (54% in the Pelham 
Road/The Avenue Conservation Area), and none have more than 6 occupants. The 
change of family homes into HMOs is changing and negatively impacting on the 
neighbourhood.

 Poor standards of amenity for future occupants, failing to create better places to 
live: There are not enough bathrooms for the occupant numbers or washbasins in 
the bedrooms; the kitchen/sitting room/communal room are too small for 9 
occupants; some of the bedrooms seem small.

 There is likely to be a real intention to use the ‘communal room’ as a bedroom later 
on.

 It is not clear that the rooms would only be for single occupation when previously 
the applicant has stated they may be double rooms.

 The proposed area for bins is unlikely to be used as it should be and will be 
insufficient, particularly as a large number of bins are likely to be required for the 
proposed number of occupants. No bin storage enclosures have been provided. 

 The development will increase parking problems.
 The two parking permits proposed to be requested is not likely to be enough.
 There are already people living in the property.
 The extension has already been built and does not have rooflights as shown on the 

plans.
 As this development is retrospective, it would appear to be a deliberate attempt to 

put pressure on granting planning permission.
 The development will (and already has) increase(d) noise. It is unclear whether 

acceptable soundproofing has been used.
 The development has increased litter and anti-social behaviour.

4.2. Local Ward Councillors have also been consulted on the application, with Councillor 
Haye (as Ward Councillor) responding as follows: 

My concerns are both for the occupants and the residents.

For the occupants: There is still a lack of communal space. The communal room on the 
first floor measuring 6.7 sqm is not acceptable, especially after furniture is added to the 
room. The lack of toilet facilities - only 3 shown, 1 on the first floor and 2 on the ground 
floor. There is no w/c facility on the top floor. 

Page 14



Page 5 of 13

For the local residents: The application if granted will have an effect on the local 
parking, increase anti-social behaviour and put more strain on local amenities.

4.3. Kent Police, KCC Heritage and KCC Highways and Transportation were also consulted 
and their comments are below.

Kent Police

Kent Police has commented that if the application is to be approved a condition is 
strongly requested to be included to address the following points:

1. Any access route to either of the side elevations is monitored with access control. 
2. Perimeter treatments including gates must be designed to protect those using the 
garden areas but must not affect the security to neighbouring properties.  
3. The open front area, particularly with ground floor bedrooms is a concern for 
unauthorised access whether welcome or not and requires monitored CCTV and secure 
gated frontage. 
4. Lighting and CCTV details to be included in the application and must work together 
and for the protection of the users, staff and neighbours. 
5. Doorsets should meet PAS 24: 2016 UKAS certified standard, this includes those to 
the apartments and the balconies.
6. The covered access outside the communal front door must not allow loitering thus 
stopping residents and authorised visitors from using it without fearing crime. It must be lit 
and designed to provide no hiding space.  
7. Windows on the ground floor or potentially vulnerable e.g. from flat roofs or garden 
walls and including the roof lights to the ground floor should also meet PAS 24: 2016 UKAS 
certified standard.  
8. The Communal Access Control to meet SBD Homes 2019 standards and include 
alarms on all the emergency access doors.  
9. Communal mail delivery for the apartments needs to be “through the wall” or sited 
at the front with CCTV coverage, be of robust construction (SBD or Sold Secure standard) 
and have anti-fishing design.  
10. The communal doorset needs to be duel fire and security certification. Access 
Control to be in accordance with “A GUIDE FOR SELECTING FLAT ENTRANCE 
DOORSETS” 2019” for duel fire and security.  

The potential for ASB, Nuisance and Conflict is significant unless these concerns are 
designed out prior to occupation. It is unclear whether there will be a full time staff member 
on site or not, especially overnight and at weekends and this is relevant to our comments. 

Kent Police welcome a discussion with the applicant/agent about site specific designing out 
crime.  

If the points above are not addressed, they can affect the development and local policing. 
Current levels of reported crime have been taken into account.

KCC Heritage

No comments.

Page 15



Page 6 of 13

KCC Highways and Transportation

The proposed development is in a sustainable location, with access to local amenities 
and public transport nearby. The nil provision of vehicle parking is therefore considered 
to be acceptable, subject to adequate cycle storage being provided. 9 cycle spaces 
should be provided (1 space for each bedroom). Any cycle storage will need to be 
covered and secure. Consequently, it is confirmed that provided this requirement is 
secured by condition, no objection would be raised on behalf of the local highway 
authority.

5. Site Description and Surroundings

5.1. The application site is defined on the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 
Policies Map as lying in the urban area of Gravesend. It is in a residential area 
comprising a mix of two storey detached, semi-detached and terraced properties.

5.2. The application site consists of a large two storey (plus attic) 6 bedroom semi-detached 
dwelling in The Avenue, in use as a single dwelling but is in the process of being 
converted to an HMO. The site is in the Pelham Road/The Avenue Conservation Area, 
which is subject to an Article 4 Direction. 

5.3. One of the key characteristics of the Conservation Area are the small groups of houses 
built to an identical design, with clusters of these different style buildings running along 
the street. The east side of The Avenue is notable for this; the application property is 
one of such a group of pairs of semi-detached houses.

5.4. The front garden contains paths to the front door and a narrow side access through to 
the rear garden of the property. The front garden contains an area of grass and is 
enclosed by a low brick wall to the front boundary. The rear garden is largely laid to 
lawn. As can be seen from the above planning history, a single storey rear extension 
has been approved at the property and is being constructed (application 20210529).

5.5. The Avenue is a Permit Parking Area (PPA) and in Zone TC04. The parking restrictions 
in Zone TC04 apply from 11am to 12 noon, Monday to Friday. During these times a 
valid PPA permit must be displayed in a vehicle, for it to be permitted to park in this 
zone.

6. Service Manager (Planning) Comments

Background

6.1. A previous case (20211047) for an 11 bedroom HMO at the property was recently 
refused by the Planning Committee in November 2021 (see above planning history). 
The refusal grounds were as follows:

1. The proposed development would fail to comply with the Guidance to HMO 
Amenity Standards in respect of the living conditions for future occupants of the 
proposed HMO, with regard to inadequate provision of acceptable 
kitchen/living/dining and bedroom spaces, and the failure to demonstrate 
appropriate provision for hand wash basins, bathroom ventilation, and refuse 
storage. The proposal would therefore fail to provide a high standard of amenity 
for future users, which would conflict with the requirements of the Guidance to 
HMO Amenity Standards 2006, saved Policy H5 of the Gravesham Local Plan 

Page 16



Page 7 of 13

First Review 1994, Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
2014, and paragraph 130 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021.

2. The proposal fails to secure a contribution towards strategic mitigation measures 
within the Thames Estuary and Marshes SPA/Ramsar Sites to resolve 
disturbance issues to wintering birds, and in the absence of this contribution or 
any evidence to inform an appropriate assessment, the development fails to 
comply with the requirements of the Habitat Regulations and paragraphs 174 
and 180 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 and Policy CS12 of 
the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014.

6.2. This current application has reduced the proposed number of bedrooms to 9 and has 
been submitted in an attempt to overcome the previous grounds for refusal.

6.3. In considering the previous grounds for refusal, and on the basis that the principle of the 
development was previously considered acceptable, and that there were no design or 
character and appearance concerns, the main issues for consideration in the 
determination of this application are as follows:

 Residential amenity
 Highways and parking
 Ecological impact on the Thames Estuary and Marshes Ramsar/SPA.

Residential Amenity

6.4. The NPPF 2021 states that planning decisions should aim to secure a high standard of 
amenity for all existing and future users (paragraph 130f). The impact on amenity is also 
considered with regard to the criteria within Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy 2014, 
which states that new development should be located, designed and constructed to 
safeguard the amenity, including privacy, daylight and sunlight, of its occupants, and 
those of neighbouring properties and land; and avoid adverse environmental impacts.

6.5. The amenity of future occupants are also safeguarded in saved Policy H5 (iv) of the 
Local Plan 1994, which requires that proposals for the conversion of existing properties 
to HMO use will have regard to the adopted Council’s Residential Layout Guidelines. 
This has been replaced by the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS), which 
set out minimum internal areas for new dwellings based on the level of occupancy, 
bedroom size and number of storeys. However, these relate more readily to flat 
conversions than HMOs. The Council has its own adopted guidance on HMO amenity 
standards, which include minimum room sizes, and this is relevant to the assessment of 
this proposal.

Internal living space

6.6. Under the previously refused application, there was a concern about the inadequate and 
below standard living and sleeping spaces. 

6.7. Under the current application, the submitted Design and Access Statement states the 
rooms will be single occupancy. 

6.8. For a single person unit a bedroom should have a minimum floorspace of 6.5m2. The 
bedroom floor areas provided are all in excess of 10m, which is the minimum standard 
for a double bedroom, with the exception of Room 3 within the ground floor rear 

Page 17



Page 8 of 13

extension, which has a floor space of 8.6m2. The rooms would therefore all be 
acceptable for a single person. 

6.9. There is one kitchen/sitting room provided on the ground floor, which, following the 
previous application, has been enlarged by the removal of a bedroom. This space 
measures 29.7m2. There is now also a ‘communal room’ on the first floor, which 
measures 6.7m2 (this was also previously a bedroom). The HMO amenity standards 
require a minimum 11m2 kitchen for 7-10 occupants and 2m2 per person of dining 
space. For up to 9 occupants this would equate to 29m2. Therefore, the proposed 
kitchen/sitting space would now meet the required minimum standard. There is also now 
an additional (albeit small) ‘communal room’ on the first floor which adds to the overall 
shared living space provision at the property. It is therefore considered that this 
amended proposal would meet the minimum space standards required for kitchen, 
dining and living areas from the HMO Amenity Standards SPG, and overcomes the 
concerns raised in the previous refusal.

6.10. In addition, and also in relation to the recommended amenity standards, the submitted 
Design and Access Statement confirms there will be mechanical ventilation to comply 
with Building Regulations in all shower and bathrooms. It is not clear whether wash 
hand basins will be provided in all bedrooms, but it is recognised that there are three 
WC/shower rooms and one bathroom, which is considered adequate for 9 occupants. 
The Council’s Housing Improvement Officer has stated that “wash hand basins are to be 
considered where ‘reasonably practical’; however, in an older building of four storeys 
(including the basement where the boiler is located), it would be difficult to say that it is 
practical to have a basin in each bedroom, especially where there are more than the 
required shared bathrooms and toilets”.

6.11. In terms of refuse storage, the submitted plans show space to store bins at the side of 
the property. Neighbour concerns have been raised about inadequate storage and a 
lack of enclosure, together with general issues about additional dumping of waste. 
However, bin storage for the majority of the properties along the road appears to be 
visible at the front and side; therefore, the proposed refuse storage arrangements are in 
keeping with this common practice. 

6.12. The Council’s Housing Improvement Officer has confirmed the property will be suitable 
for a maximum number of 9 occupants, with the first floor communal room to be used as 
additional dining space. Given the previous amenity concerns raised about a higher 
number of occupants, it would be considered appropriate to restrict the number of 
occupants to no more than 9 single occupants. This would then accord with the HMO 
licence. 

6.13. On the basis of the amendments to the proposal, and a restriction on the number of 
occupants, there is no longer a conflict with the requirements of paragraph 130 of the 
NPPF 2021, Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy, saved Policy H5 of the Local Plan and 
the Guidance to HMO Amenity Standards in respect of the living conditions for future 
occupants of the HMO. The proposal therefore provides adequate bedroom and 
communal space, and is considered to provide an acceptable standard of amenity for 
future occupiers.

Neighbouring amenity

6.14. No external alterations are proposed as part of the change to an HMO, and as such 
there are no issues of loss of light or privacy for neighbouring properties. 

Page 18



Page 9 of 13

6.15. Whilst it is recognised that there are concerns from local residents about noise and 
disturbance from the proposed HMO use, this matter was not previously considered 
likely to lead to significant harm. The current proposal looks to reduce the proposed 
number of occupants, which would arguably have even less of an impact. No concerns 
have been raised by the Council’s Environmental Protection Officer.

6.16. In terms of soundproofing at the property, this would be a matter controlled by Building 
Regulations as part of the conversion.

6.17. Kent Police have recommended a number of points to be included at the property in 
order to help design out crime. This includes access control, lighting, alarms, and 
fire/security certified doors. These recommendations can be achieved through the 
imposition of an appropriate condition.

6.18. On this basis, and as previously considered, the proposal is unlikely to lead to 
significant harm to the amenity of local residents.

Parking and Highways

6.19. Policy CS11 of the Core Strategy 2014 and saved Policy P3 of the Local Plan 1994 
require new development to provide sufficient parking in accordance with the adopted 
parking standards, taking account of the availability of alternative means of transport 
and accessibility to services and facilities.

6.20. There are no direct vehicle parking standards for HMOs. Therefore, the proposal has 
been considered with regard to the adopted parking guidance for new dwellings.

6.21. Due to the edge of centre location, there would not be any car parking requirement for 
the proposal. However, all new dwellings should provide adequate and secure bicycle 
parking, so with guidance suggesting one space per bedroom for a flat or one space per 
bedroom for a house, less the existing provision for the property, this would equate to 3 
cycle spaces. There would be provision for this within the rear garden, and this could be 
conditioned to be provided.

6.22. Given the accessibility of this site to public transport and town centre services and 
facilities, there are alternative means for occupants to access employment and other 
services without the need for a car. Adopted policy encourages the use of alternative 
means of transport to the private car and offers flexibility in the application of the parking 
standards in accessible locations such as this. In terms of car parking provision, as the 
property is edge of centre no car parking is required, and 2011 Census data suggests 
that some 46% of households in this area of Gravesham do not have access to a car. 
However, it is recognised that neighbours have raised parking concerns in relation to 
the number of occupants proposed, and given this is a residents parking permit area, a 
restriction could be imposed on the number of occupants applying for a permit. The 
application suggests two permits are likely to be sought. This could be achieved via a 
condition.

6.23. It is also recommended that appropriate provision should be made for the secure 
parking of motorcycles. This is outside the scope of planning guidance, but there is the 
potential for occupants to have access to a motorcycle, possibly more so than a car, 
and there is space at the property to be able to accommodate them. It is recommended 
that two spaces are provided, along with an electric charging point for battery powered 
motorcycles. This could be suggested via an informative.

Page 19



Page 10 of 13

6.24. Overall, there would be no adverse highways or parking impacts and it is considered 
that the proposed development would be in line with Policies CS11 and CS19 of the 
Core Strategy 2014 and Saved Policies T1 and P3 of the Local Plan 1994.

Other Material Planning Considerations 

Thames Estuary and Marshes Ramsar / Special Protection Area (SPA) – SAMMS Tariff: 

6.25. As the application site is within 6km of the Thames Estuary and Marshes SPA/Ramsar 
Sites and would provide additional residential accommodation, the proposed 
development is likely to have a significant effect, either alone or in-combination, on the 
coastal North Kent Special Protection Areas (SPAs)/Ramsar sites from recreational 
disturbance on the over-wintering bird interest. On this basis a tariff of £761.49 is 
required (given there would be three additional bedrooms proposed on the site).

6.26. The applicant has signed a SAMMS Contribution Agreement and paid the appropriate 
tariff for the development, which would help put in place adequate measures to mitigate 
against potential significant adverse effects on the Thames Estuary and Marshes 
SPA/Ramsar Sites, and would meet the requirements of paragraphs 174 and 180 of the 
NPPF 2021 and Policy CS12 of the Core Strategy 2014.

7. Conclusion and Overall Balancing Exercise 

7.1. The occupier amenity and SAMMS issues raised in the grounds for refusal of the 
previous application (20211047) have been overcome with the reduction in the number 
of bedrooms proposed, and the payment of the SAMMS contribution. On this basis, the 
proposal is considered to provide acceptable standards of amenity for future occupiers 
and would result in an application which is compliant with the adopted Development 
Plan and material planning considerations.

_____________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation

Approve with conditions.

Conditions

1. The development hereby approved shall be begun not later than 3 years following the date 
of this permission. 

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in precise accordance with the 
following approved plans and particulars:

Heritage Statement;
Design and Access Statement;
Drawing no. 25TA/A3/01 (Site Map and No Change to Elevations);
Drawing no. 25TA/A3/02 (Proposed Ground Floor Plan);

Page 20



Page 11 of 13

Drawing no. 25TA/A3/03 (Proposed First Floor Plan);
Drawing no. 25TA/A3/04 (Proposed Second Floor Plan);
Drawing no. 25TA/A3/05 (No Change to Block Plan); and
Drawing no. 25TA/A3/06 (Existing Floor Plans).
(All received 10 December 2021)
Application form received 14 December 2021.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until a scheme of cycle storage 
facilities incorporating 3 cycle parking spaces within a secure and weatherproof enclosure 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
facilities shall be made available for use prior to first occupation of the development hereby 
approved and retained for use by site users at all times thereafter. 

Reason: In order to encourage options for sustainable travel in accordance with Policies 
CS11 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014.

4. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, details of security for the 
property to comply with the recommendations of Kent Police in their letter dated 29 January 
2022, including access controls, lighting, alarms, and fire/security certified doors, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the work shall be 
carried out in strict accordance with those details.

Reason: To ensure a safe living environment in the interests of amenity, and in accordance 
with Policy CS19 of the Local Plan Core Strategy 2014.

5. The approved refuse storage facilities for the development hereby approved shall be 
provided prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, and shall 
thereafter shall be retained for such purposes at all times.

Reason: In the interest of amenity and in accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan Core Strategy 2014.

6. Notwithstanding the details submitted on the application form and in the approved plans, 
the number of bedrooms and occupants at the property shall at no time be more than 9.

Reason: To ensure the protection of the residential amenities of occupiers and 
neighbouring properties and in accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan 
Core Strategy 2014.

7. No more than 2 residents' parking permits shall be sought in relation to the property at 25 
The Avenue, Gravesend.

Reason: In the interests of amenity and parking pressures in the area, and in accordance 
with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014.

Page 21



Page 12 of 13

INFORMATIVES:-

 1 WORKS OF CONSTRUCTION

Hours of work of construction site plant, equipment and machinery, should be restricted to not earlier 
than 7.00 a.m. and not later than 6.00 p.m. weekdays and Saturday working should be restricted to 
not earlier than 8.00a.m. and not later than 1.00 p.m.  No work shall be carried out on Sundays, Bank 
or Public Holidays. 

i.  Suitable sound attenuation shall be used at all times in respect of all plant, machinery and 
equipment in operation on site in order to aid prevention of noise nuisance.  Compliance with BS 
5228: Part 1: 1984 and subsequent amendments regarding the use of equipment on site will be 
required in appropriate cases.

ii.  A suitable method of control shall be used in order to aid prevention of dust nuisance arising from 
work activities on site.

iii.  Burning of waste materials shall not be carried out on site.  Such materials are to be stored in a 
suitable receptacle, as far from residential accommodation as reasonably practicable, pending 
disposal off site.

iv.  Adequate arrangements shall be made to remove all waste material from the site on a regular 
basis and to dispose of it at a suitably licensed waste disposal site.

 2 DEVIATION FROM APPROVED PLANS

It is possible that any proposed deviation from the approved plans could be classed as a ‘material’ 
change requiring a further application/permission.  In the event that any change is proposed, 
applicants are advised to seek advice from the Local Planning Authority [as proceeding without the 
necessary permissions could nullify this permission].

 3 BUILDING REGULATIONS CONSENT

The granting of planning permission is independent from the granting of Building Regulations consent 
(which may, or may not, be required).  In the event of a change to the scheme granted planning 
permission being required to satisfy the Building Regulations, applicants are advised to seek advice 
from the Local Planning Authority [as proceeding without the necessary permissions could nullify this 
permission].

 4 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-MAKING

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) 2021, the Local Planning Authority has approached the assessment and 
determination of this application in a positive and creative way and, where appropriate, has worked 
pro-actively with the applicant to secure a development that is sustainable and that improves the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area, and that is in accordance with the 
Development Plan for the area.

 5 SMOKE CONTROL

The proposed development is situated in a smoke control area.  As such, only authorised smokeless 
fuels as listed in the Smoke Control Areas (Authorised Fuels) Regulations 1991 shall be burnt or 
fireplaces/appliances exempted by Smoke Control (Exempted Fireplaces) Orders shall be utilised.  
Exempt appliances are appliances (ovens including pizza and tandoori ovens, wood burners and 

Page 22



Page 13 of 13

stoves) which have been exempted by Statutory Instruments (Orders) under the Clean Air Act 1993. 
These have passed tests to confirm that they are capable of burning an unauthorised or inherently 
smoky solid fuel without emitting smoke. They must be fitted and used according to manufacturer's 
instructions and they can only be used for the fuel for which they are designed.
 
When purchasing fuels and fireplaces the applicant should clarify with the vendor their suitability with 
respect to use in Smoke Control Areas. For further information, including confirmation that an 
appliance and/or fuel is suitable for use in a smoke control area, the applicant should contact the 
Council's Regulatory Services air.quality@gravesham.gov.uk.

 6 KENT COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION

It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby approved is 
commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where required are obtained and 
that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established in order to avoid any enforcement action 
being taken by the Highway Authority.

Across the county there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens that do not look like 
roads or pavements but are actually part of the road. This is called 'highway land'. Some of this land 
is owned by The Kent County Council (KCC) whilst some are owned by third party owners. 
Irrespective of the ownership, this land may have 'highway rights' over the topsoil.

Information about how to clarify the highway boundary can be found at 
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-boundary-
enquiries

The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in every aspect 
with those approved under such legislation and common law. It is therefore important for the applicant 
to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to progress this aspect of the works prior to 
commencement on site.

 7 It is recommended that appropriate provision should be made for the secure parking of 
motorcycles at the property, to include at least two spaces, along with an electric charging point for 
battery powered motorcycles.

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT

Application Ref: 20211309

Site Address: G And M Motors 85 Milton Road Gravesend Kent

Application 
Description:

Application for outline planning permission with all matters reserved and 
being for demolition of existing workshop and erection of a single storey 
building with valet booth, video/photographic studio and parts store 
together with the laying out of 6 car parking spaces.  

Applicant: Mr Ian Gay, G And M Motors

Agent: Mr Les Herbert

Ward: Riverside

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: 16 December 2021

Publicity expiry date: 26 November 2021

Decision Level:  Planning Committee 

Reason for referral: Councillor Call-In

Recommendation: Permission
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

Summary of Reasons for Recommendations

The proposed development supports the existing commercial use of the showroom and 
preserves the character of the area.  On this basis, the application is considered to be 
acceptable and is compliant with national and local planning policy.

____________________________________________________________________________

MAIN REPORT

1. Site Description and Surroundings

1.1. The application site is located within the urban area of Gravesend where the character of the 
street scene is very mixed with residential to the west and northeast, St Peter and St Paul 
Church to the east, bowling green and residential to the south and railway line to the north.  
The majority of the surrounding properties are two storey terrace houses, with a limited 
number of three storey houses on Raphael Road.  Due to the location of the proposed 
development within the Borough’s urban area, the principle of development is acceptable 
providing it accords with the local and national Policies below.

1.2. The site is an existing car showroom consisting of the main building being a two-storey 
structure located to the west of the site, a single storey barn hip open aspect car port to the 

Page 25 Agenda Item 5b



east of the site, both fronting the main highway of Milton Road, and to the north is a single 
storey lean-to and rendered structure that is the subject of this current outline planning 
application. The site also consists of open air parking for vehicles on sale and vehicles being 
serviced/repaired. The site can be accessed by vehicles from Milton Road and Raphael 
Road.

Streetscene – view from Milton Road / Raphael Road junction

Application Building – view from Raphael Road

2. Planning History

Application. Ref. No.Description Status Date
20201243 Application for outline planning 

permission with all matters 
reserved and being for demolition 
of existing workshop and erection 
of a two storey building with valet 
booth, video/photographic studio 
and parts store to ground floor floor 
and 4 x 1 bed self-contained flats 
to first floor with 10 associated 
parking spaces.

Refused 24.03.2021

20140052 Stationing of an Airstream caravan 
on the forecourt to serve as a 

Refused
Appeal Allowed

14.04.2014
23.04.2015

Page 26



coffee bar.

20040672

20040646

Display of fascia sign with two sets 
of internally illuminated 'Honda' 
lettering and logos and a halo 
illuminated 'Dealer name' and a 
vertically wall mounted 'welcome' 
sign with internally illuminated 
lettering on the front elevation; 
three wall mounted signs at first 
floor level on the west side 
elevation, one with internally 
illuminated logo; three wall 
mounted signs at first floor level on 
the rear elevation, one with 
internally illuminated logo; a double 
sided free-standing sign with 
internally illuminated lettering at 
site entrance; a fascia sign on the 
used car sales building with 
internally illuminated logo; a single 
sided free-standing sign with 
internally illuminated lettering at the 
rear of the site behind the used car 
sales building and 3 non-
illuminated 'parking' and 'MOT bay' 
signs mounted on the west side 
boundary wall.

Application for determination as to 
the need for prior approval for the 
demolition of a dwelling house in its 
entirety.

Consent

Demolition Prior 
Approval Not Required

15.09.2004

13.08.2004

19990796 Erection of external staircase and 
balcony to first floor level at front.

Refuse 13.01.2000

19950610 Outline application for the 
demolition of existing 
showroom/workshop and erection 
of a two storey building to form car 
showroom and workshop at ground 
floor level with two no. one 
bedroom flats and storerooms over 
and the laying out of 12 no. car 
parking spaces.

Permission 21.12.1995

 
19930353 Erection of two storey extension at 

the rear and alterations to the front 
elevation to provide an open car 
display area at ground floor level.

PER 11.10.1993

19950630 Display of illuminated fascia signs 
on north, south and west elevations 
of showroom; internally illuminated, 

SPLIT 10.11.1995

Page 27



free-standing "welcome" sign 
outside showroom entrance; and 
part illuminated double sided 
directional sign at East Milton Road 
entrance. Permitted Display of 
internally illuminated double sided 
pylon sign at the Milton Road 
entrance. Refused

19920261 Display of a 48 sheet non 
illuminated  advertisement 
hoarding on the eastern elevation

Refused 23.06.1992

 
19900287 **AMENDED 

APPLICATION/REVISED 
DESCRIPTION** Demolition of 
existing buildings and erection of a 
replacement single storey building 
in connection with the use of the 
site for the sale and display of 
motor vehicles.

Permission 30.10.1990

 
19900013 Change of use of site to open air 

car sales, erection of single storey 
building as sales office and 
formation of vehicular access onto 
Raphael Rd.

Refused 16.03.1990

19881121 Display of an internally illuminated 
fascia sign on the south elevation 
and an internally illuminated sign at 
first floor level on the west 
elevation.

Consent 20.01.1989

19860180 Continued display of internally 
illuminated fascia sign on the south 
and of an internally illuminated sign 
on the west elevations and of two 
non-illuminated signs on north 
elevation

Consent 02.07.1986

 
19860030 Continued use of premises for 

motor vehicle repair workshop 
petrol sales car sales and ancillary 
office and stores

Permission 21.07.1986

 
19840929 Display of non-illuminated fascia 

signs
Consent 12.12.1984

 
19840547 Demolition of former school and 

erection of car showroom and 
workshop with associated car 
parking and access ramp

Permission 29.10.1984

19810707 Continued use of premises for Permission 30.09.1981

Page 28



motor vehicle repair workshop 
petrol sales car sales and ancillary 
offices stores and car hire booking 
office

 
19810502 Continued use of part of garage as 

a car hire booking office
Permission 22.07.1981

3. Planning Policy, Development Plan and other Material Considerations

3.1. The Development Plan for Gravesham currently comprises:

 Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy and Policies Map, September 2014; 
 Saved policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review, November 1994;
 The Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013 - 2030 (July 2016, revised 2020)

3.2. The relevant policies for this proposal are as follows:

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014
 CS01 – Sustainable Development
 CS02 – Scale and Distribution of Development
 CS07 – Economy, Employment and Skills
 CS11 – Transport
 CS12 – Green Infrastructure
 CS18 – Climate Change
 CS19 – Design and Development Principles

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994
 T1 – Impact of Development on the Highway Network
 P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards

3.3. Paragraph 33 of the NPPF 2021 sets out that those policies within adopted local plans 
should be reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five years, 
and should then be updated as necessary. Such reviews are also a legal requirement as 
set out in Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England 
Regulations 2012.

3.4. The Council undertook such a review in September 2019 and the review found that the 
adopted Local Plan Core Strategy is in need of a partial review in terms of Policy CS02, 
due to the increased need for housing since the Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted, 
and the need to ensure a sufficient land supply exists to meet this need. Whilst saved 
policies from the Local Plan First Review 1994 generally conform with the NPPF 2021, 
the Council will also seek to replace these saved policies via the emerging Local Plan.

Other Material Considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework 2021
 Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
 Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities
 Section 9 – Promoting sustainable transport
 Section 11 – Making effective use of land
 Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places 

Page 29



Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)
 SPG4 – KCC Parking Standards (2006)

4. Consultations and Publicity Responses

4.1. The application has been advertised by displaying of a site notice and individual neighbour 
letters to 22 properties. The consultation period had an overall expiry date of 16th November 
2021. No letters of representations were received.

4.2. Local Ward Councillors were also consulted with no comments received.

4.3. KCC Heritage, KCC Highways & Transportation, Natural England, National Grid and 
Network Rail were also consulted and their comments are below.

KCC - Heritage

The site is within an area of multi-period archaeological potential and the site of a former 
National School. However, I consider it unlikely that the proposed works will have a 
significant below-ground archaeological impact and have no further comments to make in 
this case.

KCC - Highways and Transportation

Having considered the development proposals and the effect on the highway network, raise 
no objection on behalf of the local highway authority.

Informative: It is important to note that planning permission does not convey any approval to 
carry out works on or affecting the public highway.

Natural England

No objection subject to securing appropriate mitigation. 

National Grid

No comments received.

Network Rail

Network Rail is the statutory undertaker for maintaining and operating railway infrastructure 
of England, Scotland and Wales. As statutory undertaker, NR is under license from the 
Department for Transport (DfT) and Transport Scotland (TS) and regulated by the Office of 
Rail and Road (ORR) to maintain and enhance the operational railway and its assets, 
ensuring the provision of a safe operational railway.

The proposal includes the demolishment of a building that is adjacent to Network Rail’s 
boundary and the erection of a building 1 meter from Network Rail’s boundary, consequently 
there is a strong possibility that Network Rail land / air-space will need to be utilised in order 
to facilitate the works. The proximity of the new building may also adversely impact Network 
Rail’s maintenance teams’ ability to maintain our boundary fencing and boundary treatments. 
It should be noted that access to Network Rail’s land may not always be granted and if 
granted may be subject to railway site safety requirements and special provisions with all 
associated railway costs charged to the applicant.

Page 30



As a result, Network Rail requests the applicant / developer engages Network Rail’s Asset 
Protection and Optimisation (ASPRO) team via 
AssetProtectionLondonSouthEast@networkrail.co.uk as soon as possible. The applicant / 
developer may be required to enter into an Asset Protection Agreement to get the required 
resource and expertise on-board to enable approval of detailed works. More information can 
also be obtained from our website https://www.networkrail.co.uk/running-the-railway/looking-
after-the-railway/asset-protection-and-optimisation/. 
 
A full list of Asset Protection informatives to be added which are issued to all proposals within 
close proximity to the railway (compliance with the informatives does not remove the need to 
engage with our ASPRO team). 

GBC – Commercial Team (Regulatory Services)

No objection in principle. Health and Safety Informative to be added.

GBC - Highways Officer 

Limited information is provided with this application, as the proposed building removes 
existing car parking/vehicle storage to the possible detriment to the surrounding highway as 
vehicles could be parked on street. The applicant needs to clarify what will happen to the 
displaced vehicles, or demonstrate that there will be no displacement.

 Google Street View April 2021

Page 31

mailto:AssetProtectionWessex@networkrail.co.uk
https://www.networkrail.co.uk/running-the-railway/looking-after-the-railway/asset-protection-and-optimisation/
https://www.networkrail.co.uk/running-the-railway/looking-after-the-railway/asset-protection-and-optimisation/


  Google Satellite image
 
It is noted on the application form that the new buildings will be used by existing staff, so 
whilst new car parking may not be required and in fact cannot be provided. The question has 
to be what happens to the vehicles displaced by the development.

On the available evidence I can only recommend refusal until such time as the applicant can 
clearly demonstrate that there will be no overflow of vehicles onto the surrounding highway 
network to the possible detriment of local amenity and highway safety. (On street parking 
restricting visibility and reducing available road width).

GBC - Economic Development Manager

No comments received.

GBC - Environmental Protection Team (Regulatory Services)

Please add the following informatives:
 Smoke Control
 Watching Brief
 Code of Practice on Construction and Demolition
 Lighting
 Electrical Vehicle Charging Point(s)

GBC - Service Manager (Housing Operations)

No comments received.

GBC - Waste & Recycling Manager

No comments received.

Page 32



5. Planning Analysis and Service Manager Planning Comments

Background

5.1. As can be seen from the relevant planning history above, in 1995 (Ref. 19950610) outline 
planning permission was given for the demolition of existing showroom/workshop and 
erection of a two storey building to form car showroom and workshop at ground floor level 
with two no. one bedroom flats and storerooms over and the laying out of 12 no. car 
parking spaces.  Whilst it is acknowledged that this previous permission was for a mixed 
commercial and residential development in the same location on the site, this does not set 
a precedent for the success of any subsequent planning applications and it must be noted 
that this outline application was submitted and assessed some twenty-six years ago and 
since then planning policy and guidance has changed significantly, with the introduction of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) and the Local Authority’s current 
Local Plan, the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) (2014), of which the relevant 
section and policies have been quoted above.

5.2. Over time the site has evolved from a school and residential to commercial premises. The 
most recently planning history for the site shows that planning permission was sought in 
2020 for outline planning permission with all matters reserved and being for demolition of 
existing workshop and erection of a two storey building with valet booth, 
video/photographic studio and parts store to ground floor and 4 x 1 bed self-contained flats 
to first floor with 10 associated parking spaces (Ref. 20201243).  This application was 
refused in March 2021 for the following reason;

1. The proposed mixed use building of commercial on the ground floor and four flats 
above, by virtue of the type of development located within the existing commercial 
site, results in a form of development that is both out of context with the site and 
within a location that is characterised by two storey single-family dwellings.  The 
proposals will result in a form of development that lacks a street frontage which 
would be at odds with the site itself and the surrounding street scene, contrary to 
Policies CS14, CS15 and CS19 (LPCS) and paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019).

2. The proposed flats would result in substandard living conditions and have a 
detrimental impact on the amenities of future occupiers and would therefore conflict 
with the objectives of Policy CS19 (LPCS) and paragraph 127f of the NPPF (2019).

3. In the absence of information demonstrating that the development could be 
constructed in a manner not resulting in the harm to the health of, or loss to trees 
immediately adjoining the northern edge of the proposed buildings footprint, the 
development would be contrary to Policy CS12 (LPCS).

4. The proposal fails to secure a contribution towards strategic mitigation measures 
within Special Protection Areas, and in the absence of this contribution or adequate 
information to inform an Appropriate Assessment, the development fails to comply 
with the requirements of the Habitat Regulations and Section 14 (specifically 
paragraphs 175 and 176) of the NPPF (2019) and Policy CS12 (LPCS).

5.3. In response to the reasons for refusal, the current application was submitted, removing the 
upper storey containing the residential units, together with a reduction of 4 parking spaces.

5.4. This current outline application will be assessed on its own merits against the current Local 
Plan and NPPF (2021).

Page 33



Proposal

5.5. The current application is for outline planning permission with all matters reserved and 
being for demolition of existing workshop and erection of a single storey building with valet 
booth, video/photographic studio and parts store together with the laying out of 6 car 
parking spaces.

5.6. The existing workshop has an approximate footprint of 68.6m2 and is located in line with 
the existing rear boundary wall.  The proposed building would measure 27.5m wide, 7.5m 
deep and have an approximate footprint of 174.13m2 and would be set in from the rear 
boundary by approximately 1m. 

5.7. As this is an outline application, detailed plans showing height, design and materials have 
not been submitted.
 

5.8. The building would comprise of valet booth, video/photographic studio and parts store to 
be ancillary to the existing showroom use. The 6no. parking spaces would be located to 
the front of the proposed building and to the rear of the existing single storey showroom 
covered car port. 

5.9. As all matters are reserved none of the matters below can be considered at this stage and 
would be reserved for future consideration:

 appearance - aspects of a building or place which affect the way it looks, including 
the exterior of the development 

 means of access - covers accessibility for all routes to and within the site, as well 
as the way they link up to other roads and pathways outside the site 

 landscaping - the improvement or protection of the amenities of the site and the 
area and the surrounding area, this could include planting trees or hedges as a 
screen 

 layout - includes buildings, routes and open spaces within the development and 
the way they are laid out in relations to buildings and spaces outside the 
development 

 scale - includes information on the size of the development, including the height, 
width and length of each proposed building

Character and Appearance

5.10. The submitted plans are indicative only as all matters are reserved.  The proposed 
building would replace an existing single storey building that is currently used in 
connection with the existing commercial use of the car showroom.  The proposed 
replacement building would be single storey and would provide facilities in connection 
with the operation of the car showroom.  The current building is showing signs of wear 
and tear and does not add to the overall quality of the area.  Looking at the barn hip 
roof open aspect car port located to the south, this structure is single storey and has 
been designed to a high standard with artificial slate tiles and brickwork detailing, to 
reflect its setting with St Peter and Paul Church to the east.  The proposal would 
provide an opportunity to secure detailing under a future reserved matters application 
for a development of a higher quality and design, which would be more in keeping with 
the area.  

5.11. The indicative plans show a single storey commercial building with facing brickwork 
and 4no. roller shutters and 3no. personal doors to the front, for a valet booth, 

Page 34



video/photographic studio and parts store and single doors on each side elevation.  
Due to position of the building being only 1m away from the rear boundary and with 
the railway line to the rear, there are no windows or doors proposed in the rear 
elevation.  The proposal does indicate 6no. parking spaces located to the front of the 
proposed building.

5.12. Policy CS07 states that particular support will be given to schemes incorporating small 
and flexible industrial and/or office workspaces of high quality intended to support the 
start-up and expansion of small and medium sized enterprises. The Council will also 
support the refurbishment and upgrading of existing industrial and commercial 
premises and improvements in information and communications technology to 
facilitate more flexible working practices and the changing economic needs of the 
Borough.  The proposed valet booth, photographic studio and storage space would be 
ancillary to the existing dealership and would result in additional 2no. full time 
employees.  It is further acknowledged that within the current economic climate and 
with the covid restrictions that have been enforced since March 2020, there has been 
a significant increase in online sales, resulting in an impact on local business including 
car showrooms.  Policy CS07 seeks to support local business and as such this 
proposal would therefore accord with this policy.  

5.13. It is considered that the single storey replacement building of commercial use within an 
commercial site and in this location, would support the growth and existing running of 
the showroom and would result in a form of development that is in keeping with the 
site layout and would reinforce the character of the area.  The proposal would 
therefore be in accordance with Policies CS07 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan 
Core Strategy (LPCS) 2014 and paragraph 130 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) 2021.

Neighbouring Amenity

5.14. The nearest residential property is located to the east of the site, being Elm Cottage, 
which does not have any rear facing windows or garden.  The indicative plans do show 
the proposed building being set fairly close to this property, but with the proposed 
building being single storey and with no windows on the side elevation, there is likely 
to be no impact on the privacy of the occupiers of Elm Cottage.  Whilst the existing site 
consists of a commercial use and a certain amount of noise generated from the use 
would not be altered by the proposal, the replacement building would be located much 
closer to dwelling and therefore with the potential further intensification of the 
commercial use, could result in additional noise generation.  However, due to the 
position of this house and lack of rear windows or garden, it is considered that there 
would not be any considerable detriment to the occupiers of this property.

5.15. Taking into consideration the above, it is considered that on balance the replacement 
building located in a similar area, within the same use as the existing and within this 
existing commercial site, would not have a significant detrimental impact on the 
amenities of the surrounding neighbours and would therefore accord with the 
objectives of Policy CS19 (LPCS) and paragraph 130(f) of the NPPF (2021).

5.16. It is also acknowledged that no neighbour objections were received.

Ecology and Biodiversity

5.17. To the rear of the existing building and along the northern boundary of the site as a 
whole is a railway line with extensive trees that run along the boundary which 
overhang the site.  The canopies of these trees would also overhang the proposed 

Page 35



building’s position.  It is therefore likely that the root structures of these trees would be 
similar to the canopy spread and therefore the proposed building which would be 
larger and heavier could potentially harm the health of these trees and require their 
removal.  The trees have a visual benefit in softening the surrounding built up 
character of the area and are likely to act as sound buffer from the noise created by 
the trains.  Therefore, it would be necessary for any details and information to be 
submitted demonstrating that the development could be constructed in a manner not 
resulting in the harm to the health of, or loss to trees immediately adjoining the 
northern edge of the proposed building’s footprint. 

Parking and Highways

5.18. This application seeks outline permission with all matters reserved however the 
Design and Access Statement and indicative plans include 6no. parking spaces.  
Whilst a proposed parking plan has been submitted, it has not been demonstrated how 
these spaces would be used and how the displacement of the vehicles located to the 
east of the existing building would be addressed.  As such, a condition would be 
imposed on any forthcoming decision for a detailed parking layout to be submitted 
within the reserved matters.  Access to this new building is shown to be from the 
existing access from Raphael Road which is acceptable.  Overall and on the basis of 
the above, subject to conditions, the proposal would accord with Policy CS11 (LPCS).

Other Material Planning Considerations 

Maintenance Railway Line

5.19. The plot is constrained by the railway line to the rear (north) which has extensive trees 
along the outside of the site boundary wall.  The proposal would be located within a 
similar position to the existing and the demolition of the existing building and 
replacement is likely to impact the trees along the boundary and their root protection 
area.  As such and inline with Network Rail comments, it will be necessary for the 
applicant to engage with Network Rail prior to any commencement of works. this will 
be added as an informative to any forthcoming decision notice.

6. Conclusion

6.1. The proposed development supports the existing commercial use of the showroom 
and preserves the character of the area.  On this basis, the application is acceptable 
and subject to conditions and informatives, would be in accordance with Policies 
CS07, CS11 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) 2014, 
Policy T1 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (LPFR) 1994 and paragraph 130 
of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2021.

______________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation

Approve with Conditions

Conditions

Reserved Matters

1. Details of the, access, appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale, (hereinafter called "the 
reserved matters") shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Page 36



Authority before any development begins and the development shall be carried out as 
approved.

Reason The application was submitted for outline planning permission, without such details, and is 
granted to comply with the provisions of Section 92 (1) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 and Article 5 (1) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015.

Time Limit

2. Applications for approval of the reserved matters for the development hereby permitted 
must be made to the Local Planning Authority within 3 years beginning with the date of 
the grant of outline planning permission.

Reason In pursuance of Section 92 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Implementation 

3. The development to which this permission related must be begun not later than whichever 
is the later of the following dates:-

(a) the expiration of three years from the date of the grant of outline planning permission

(b) the expiration of two years from the final approval of the reserved matters or, in the 
case of approval on different dates the final approval of the last such matter to be 
approved. 

Reason In pursuance of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Highways & Parking.

4. The reserved matters of the development to be submitted pursuant to condition 1 of this 
outline planning permission shall show adequate land to the satisfaction of the Local 
planning Authority reserved for parking, loading, off-loading and manoeuvring space, and 
upon approval of the layout no development, whether or not permitted by the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 as amended (or any 
provision equivalent to that Order in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting 
that Order with or without modification) shall be carried out on the land so shown, or in 
such a position as to preclude the use of or vehicular access to this reserved vehicle 
parking, loading, off-loading and manoeuvring space.

Reason That the development without the provision of the vehicle parking area is likely to lead to 
inconvenience and danger to road users by virtue of vehicles parked on the public 
highway and in order to comply with Saved Policy P3 of Gravesham Local Plan First 
Review (1994).

Surface Finishes

5 The reserved matters of the development to be submitted pursuant to condition 1 of this 
outline planning permission shall include details of surface finishes for roads, footpaths, 
cycle-ways and car parking areas. The development shall thereafter only be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details

Reason To ensure a satisfactory standard of development upon completion and in accordance 

Page 37



with Policy CS19 of Gravesham Core Strategy (2014).

Prior to works commencing 

Sustainable Surface Water Drainage

6. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until details of a 
sustainable surface water drainage scheme for the site.  The detailed drainage scheme 
shall demonstrate that both the rate and volume of run-off leaving the site post-
development will be restricted to that of the existing site during any rainfall event (up to 
and including the climate change adjusted 100yr critical storm).

(ii) The submitted details shall demonstrate that the existing on-site surface water flow-
routes and accumulation points will not be altered in such a way that the development 
places property at risk from flooding during any rainfall event, up to and including the 
climate change adjusted critical 100yr storm.

(iii) No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until details of the implementation, 
maintenance and management of the sustainable drainage scheme have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall 
be implemented and thereafter managed and maintained in accordance with the 
approved details. Those details shall include:
a) a timetable for its implementation, and
b) a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which 

shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory 
undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable 
drainage system throughout its lifetime.

Reason To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this proposal 
and to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions and in accordance with Policies 
CS18 and CS19 of Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014).

Code of Construction Practice

7. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a comprehensive 
Code of Construction Practice covering all environmental impacts of this development is 
provided by the applicant and submitted for approval to the Local Planning Authority.  The 
approved scheme shall include details of hours of work during the construction period, 
delivery times for materials, parking of vehicles of site personnel and visitors, loading and 
unloading of plant and materials and storage of materials; the development hereby 
permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Code of Construction 
Practice.

Reason In the interest of amenity and highway safety and in accordance with Policies CS11 and 
CS19 of Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014).

Soft Landscaping Scheme

8. The reserved matters of the development to be submitted pursuant to condition 1 of this 
outline planning permission shall show full details of soft landscape proposals shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The details should 
include where appropriate: Planting plans; Schedule of plants; Implementation timetable.  
The approved soft landscape scheme shall be implemented in full prior to occupation or 
use of the development commencing and permanently retained.

Page 38



Reason To ensure that the proposed development includes a properly designed and suitably 
landscaped amenity area in the interests of visual amenity and to accord with Policy CS19 
of Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014).

Prior to Occupation 

External Lighting

9. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved details of external 
lighting, including location, type and luminosity, for both the construction and operational 
phases. The approved lighting shall thereafter be fully installed on site prior to first 
occupation of any units of accommodation.

Reason In order that any proposals for external lighting may be subject to approval by the Local 
Planning Authority to ensure it is sympathetic to the area and is not detrimental to the 
amenity of the opposite residential properties (existing and proposed) or the integrity of 
the adjacent designated nature conservation areas and in accordance with Policy CS19 of 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014).

Refuse Details 

10. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of refuse storage 
to serve the development shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The approved refuse details shall be provided prior to the 
development being brought into use, and thereafter be retained for such purposes at all 
times.

Reason In order to ensure the development is served by a suitable refuse storage area in the 
interest of amenity, in accordance with adopted Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
Policy CS19.

Security Arrangements 

11. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of security 
arrangements and means of access controls to the site and the buildings shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and, unless otherwise agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the approved measures shall be retained during 
the lifetime of the development.

Reason In order to create a safe and secure environment by reducing opportunities for crime, in 
accordance with adopted Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS19 of 
Gravesham Core Strategy (2014).

Site Management Plan

12. Prior to the development hereby approved first coming into use, a written document 
demonstrating the measures to be taken to minimise noise from the use of the site (a yard 
management plan) shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The site shall thereafter be operated as per the agreed document.

Reason In order to protect the residential amenity of the nearby residents, in accordance with 
adopted Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS19 of Gravesham Core Strategy 
(2014).

Page 39



Electric Charging Points

13. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved details for provision of 
cabling to enable charging facilities to be installed for electric vehicles for the future 
occupants of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the first occupation of any of the residential units hereby 
approved to which the cabling applies. For the avoidance of doubt the Local Planning 
Authority would expect at least 20% of the development to have electric charging points.

Reason To encourage the use of sustainable and more environmentally acceptable modes of 
transport, and in accordance with Policy CS11, CS18 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Watching Brief 

14. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at 
the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority) shall be carried out until the developer has submitted a remediation 
strategy to the Local Planning Authority detailing how this unsuspected contamination 
shall be dealt with and obtained written approval from the Local Planning Authority. The 
remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.

Reason To protect the underlying groundwater from the risk of pollution and in accordance with 
the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and in accordance 
with Policy CS19 of Gravesham Core Strategy (2014).

On-going 

Noise emission

15 Noise emission from the site after construction shall be restricted/attenuated so that at no 
time shall the Noise Rating level (Lar,T) exceed the background level (LA90,T) outside any 
noise sensitive premises including residential accommodation.

Reason In order to protect the amenity of the residential properties opposite the site and in 
accordance with Policy CS19 of Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014).

Use

16. The development shall be used only for purposes ancillary to the main car showroom use 
of the premises and not as a separate entity and no repairs or servicing of vehicles shall 
take place on the premises.

Reason In order that any alternative use of the buildings may be the subject of a separate 
planning application which the Local Planning Authority would wish to determine on its 
individual merits.

Hours of Operations

17 All operations authorised or requested under this permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the hours set out below, unless with the prior written approval of the Local 
Planning Authority having first been obtained:

Page 40



Monday to Friday - 08 to 1800 hours;
Saturday - 0800 to 1800 hours;
Sunday or Public Holiday - no operations carried out.

Reason In the interest of safeguarding the residential amenity of the adjoining properties and in 
accordance with Policy CS19 of Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014).

Loud Speakers

18. Save for the case of emergencies, external loudspeakers shall not be used on the site 
without the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority having first been 
obtained.

Reason In the interest of safeguarding the residential amenity of the adjoining properties and in 
accordance with Policy CS19 of Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014).

Self-closing doors

19. All doors to the buildings on this estate shall be fitted with self-closing devices and shall 
be kept closed at all times (except for the explicit purpose of access to and egress from 
the premises).

Reason In order to protect the residential amenity of the nearby residents, in accordance with 
Policy CS19 of Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014).

INFORMATIVES:-

1 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-MAKING

2 DEVIATION FROM APPROVED PLANS

3 BUILDING REGULATIONS CONSENT

4 SMOKE CONTROL

5 KCC HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION

6 NATIONAL RAIL ASSET PROTECTION

7 REGULATORY SERVICES – COMMERICAL HEALTH

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting
	5a 20211529 - 25 The Avenue, Gravesend, Kent,  DA11 0NA
	5b 20211309 - G And M Motors 85 Milton Road Gravesend Kent

